

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (Stock Code: 1051)

> Interim Financial Report For The Six Months Ended 31 December 2008

\* For identification purpose only

## CONTENTS

	Page
Corporate Information	2
Group Results	
Condensed Consolidated Income Statement	3
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet	4
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	5
Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	6
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Interim Dividend	15
Management Discussion and Analysis	15
Directors' Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company	17
Discloseable Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders other than Directors and Chief Executive	18
Share Option	19
Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company's Listed Securities	20
Code on Corporate Governance Practices	20
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors	20
Audit Committee	20
Appreciation	20

#### **CORPORATE INFORMATION**

#### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Wong Kam Fu (*Chairman*) Dr. Lew Mon Hung (*Deputy Chairman*) Mr. Wah Wang Kei, Jackie (*Managing Director*) Mr. Tam Wai Keung, Billy (*Vice President*) Mr. Wong Hong Loong Mr. Tsui Ching Hung (appointed on 5 March 2009) Mr. Hui Richard Rui (appointed on 5 March 2009) Mr. Sin Chi Keung, Mega (retired on 12 November 2008)

## **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy Mr. Tang King Fai Mr. Dai Zhongcheng Mr. Tai Chun Kit (appointed on 12 November 2008)

## AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy (*Chairman*) Mr. Tang King Fai Mr. Dai Zhongcheng Mr. Tai Chun Kit (appointed on 12 November 2008)

## **REMUNERATION COMMITTEE**

Mr. Wong Che Man, Eddy (*Chairman*) Mr. Tang King Fai Mr. Dai Zhongcheng Mr. Tai Chun Kit (appointed on 12 November 2008)

## **COMPANY SECRETARY**

Ms. Cheng Sau Man

## LEGAL ADVISORS

Hong Kong:	K&L Gates
Bermuda:	Appleby

## **PRINCIPAL BANKERS**

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

### SHARE REGISTRARS

Hong Kong Union Registrars Limited Room 1901-02 Fook Lee Commercial Centre Town Place 33 Lockhart Road Wanchai, Hong Kong

Bermuda Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited Rosebank Centre 11 Bermudiana Road Pembroke HM 08, Bermuda

## **REGISTERED OFFICE**

Canon's Court 22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12 Bermuda

## HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Suite 1606-7, 16/F Great Eagle Centre 23 Harbour Road Wanchai, Hong Kong

## **WEBSITE:**

http://www.creditcarddna.com

## **GROUP RESULTS**

The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Smart Rich Energy Finance (Holdings) Limited (the "Company") presents the unaudited consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the six months ended 31 December 2008 together with the comparative figures for the six months ended 31 December 2007, which comprises the condensed consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008 and the related condensed consolidated statement of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six month period ended, and explanatory notes.

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the six months ended 31 December 2008

			six months ended December		
	Notes	2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	2007 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)		
Turnover Cost of sales	(2)	16,853 (15,262)	3,990 (3,108)		
Gross profit Other operating income Distribution costs Administrative expenses Loss attributable to financial assets at fair value		1,591 2,634 (943) (27,001)	882 1,591 (741) (37,274)		
through profit or loss Decrease in fair value of investment properties Impairment loss recognised in respect of an	(6)	(4,796) (6,591)	(2,843)		
available-for-sale investment Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity	(7a)	(103,964)	(598)		
Loss before income tax Income tax	(3) (4)	(139,070)	(38,983)		
Loss for the period		(139,070)	(38,983)		
Attributable to: – Equity holders of the Company – Minority interests		(139,070)	(38,830) (153)		
		(139,070)	(38,983)		
Loss per share – Basic	(5)	HK(3.72) cents	HK(1.08) cents		

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2008

	Notes	At 31 December 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	At 30 June 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (audited)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Property, plant and equipment Investment properties	(6)	9,825 13,636	4,743 20,227
Interest in a jointly controlled entity Available-for-sale investments	(7)	12,096	8,813
		35,557	33,783
CURRENT ASSETS Deposit paid for the acquisition of an available-for-sale investment Trade and other receivables Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Available-for-sale investments Pledged bank deposit Bank balances and cash	(7b) (8) (7)	9,800 5,853 185,108 164 90,089	3,283 5,661 6,689 389,072 162 80,441
CURRENT LIABILITIES Other payables Deposit received for disposal of an available-for-sale investment Provision for taxation	(7a)	<u>    291,014</u> 2,984 <u> </u>	485,308 4,040 50,000 1,545 55,585
NET CURRENT ASSETS		288,030	429,723
Total assets less current liabilities		323,587	463,506
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY Deferred taxation		170	170
NET ASSETS		323,417	463,336
CAPITAL AND RESERVES Share capital Reserves	(9)	37,340 286,077	37,408 425,928
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY Minority interests		323,417	463,336
TOTAL EQUITY		323,417	463,336

The condensed consolidated interim financial statements on pages 3 to 14 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 20 March 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wah Wang Kei, Jackie Director Tam Wai Keung, Billy Director

# **CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY** For the six months ended 31 December 2008

				Attributable to	equity holders	of the Company			
	Share capital HK\$'000	Share premium HK\$'000	Capital redemption reserve HK\$'000	Share-based compensation reserve HK\$'000	Exchange translation reserve HK\$'000	Accumulated losses HK\$'000	Sub-total HK\$'000	Minority interests HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
(Unaudited)									
At 1 July 2007 Issue of shares for acquisition of subsidiaries Issue of shares during the period Issue of shares upon exercise of share options Capital injection from a minority shareholder of a subsidiary Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign operations of the Group Loss for the period	31,443 4,139 1,818 8 -	641,734 250,821 96,586 359 - -	807 - - - -	1,437 (78) 	(449) - - - 6666 -	(373,950) - - - - (38,830)	301,022 254,960 98,404 289 - 666 (38,830)	57 - - 96 	301,079 254,960 98,404 289 96 666 (38,983)
At 31 December 2007	37,408	989,500	807	1,359	217	(412,780)	616,511		616,511
(Unaudited)									
At 1 July 2008 Repurchase of shares during the period Cancellation of share option Loss for the period	37,408 (68)	970,461 (781) 	807 - -	28,863 (3,207)	1,110 - - -	(575,313) - - 3,207 (139,070)	463,336 (849) - (139,070)	-	463,336 (849) - (139,070)
At 31 December 2008	37,340	969,680	807	25,656	1,110	(711,176)	323,417		323,417

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the six months ended 31 December 2008

	For the six months ended <b>31</b> December	
	2008	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)
Net cash used in operating activities	(30,406)	(30,016)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities	40,903	(35,124)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities	(849)	98,790
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	9,648	33,650
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	80,441	24,937
Effect of changes in exchange rate		666
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	90,089	59,253
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents Bank balances and cash	90,089	59,253

#### NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 31 December 2008

#### 1. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange") and with the Hong Kong Accounting Standard ("HKAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements do not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Group's annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the preparation of the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group's annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008, except for the adoption of the following new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which also include HKASs, amendments and interpretations, that affect the Group and are adopted for the first time for the current period's financial statements.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7	Reclassification of Financial Assets
(Amendments)	
HK(IFRIC) – Int 12	Service Concession Arrangements
HK(IFRIC) – Int 13	Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(IFRIC) – Int 14	HKAS19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
	Requirements and their Interaction

The Group has carried out an assessment of these standards, amendments and interpretations and considered that they have no significant impact on these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective in these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements:

HKFRSs (Amendment) HKAS 1 (Revised)	Improvements to HKFRSs <sup>1</sup> Presentation of Financial Statements <sup>2</sup>
HKAS 23 (Revised)	Borrowing Costs <sup>2</sup>
HKAS 27 (Revised)	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements <sup>3</sup>
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 (Amendments)	Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation <sup>2</sup>
HKAS 39 (Amendment)	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items <sup>3</sup>
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 (Amendments)	Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate <sup>2</sup>
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)	Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations <sup>2</sup>
HKFRS 3 (Revised)	Business Combinations <sup>3</sup>
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)	Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments <sup>2</sup>
HKFRS 8	Operating Segments <sup>2</sup>
HK(IFRIC) – Int 15	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate <sup>2</sup>
HK(IFRIC) – Int 16	Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation <sup>4</sup>
HK(IFRIC) – Int 17	Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners <sup>3</sup>
HK(IFRIC) – Int 18	Transfer of Assets from Customers <sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

<sup>2</sup> Effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

<sup>3</sup> Effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

<sup>4</sup> Effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 October 2008.

<sup>5</sup> Effective for transfers of assets from customer revised on or after 1 July 2009.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted for as equity transactions. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other new or revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

#### 2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into three (2007: two) operating divisions as detailed below. These divisions are the bases on which the Group reports its primary information. An analysis of the Group's turnover and contributions to operating results is as follows:

	For the six months ended 31 Decembe 2008 200			<b>nber</b> 2007	
	Turnover HK\$'000 (unaudited)	Segment results HK\$'000 (unaudited)	Turnover <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	Segment results HK\$'000 (unaudited)	
Provision of financial information services Provision of credit card security device and digital network	2,136	(461)	1,830	(248)	
authorisation services	1,680	(2,820)	2,157	(2,108)	
Trading of electronic goods and accessories Others	13,037	132	3	(8)	
	16,853	(3,149)	3,990	(2,364)	
Unallocated corporate expenses Other operating income Loss attributable to financial assets at		(21,433) 863		(34,297) 1,119	
fair value through profit or loss		(4,796)		(2,843)	
Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity		_		(598)	
Decrease in fair value of investment properties		(6,591)		_	
Impairment loss recognise in respect of an available-for-sale investment		(103,964)			
Loss before income tax		(139,070)		(38,983)	

	For the six months ended <b>31</b> December		
	2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	2007 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):			
Staff costs:			
Staff costs, including directors' emoluments Retirement benefit schemes contributions	20,759 	21,182 315	
Total staff costs	21,056	21,497	
Dividend income	(99)	(18)	
Interest income	(705)	(1,187)	
Rental income	(512)	-	
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	735	624	
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	12	1 222	
Operating lease charged on rented premises	1,002	1,233	
Write back of provision for bad and doubtful debts Exchange difference, net	(1,068) (10)	(23)	
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense	12,807	(23)	

#### 4. INCOME TAX

For the six months ended 31 December 2008 and 2007, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax and taxation in other jurisdictions had been made in the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit.

#### 5. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for the period of HK\$139,070,000 (six months ended 31 December 2007: HK\$38,983,000) and the weighted average number of 3,735,333,239 ordinary shares (six months ended 31 December 2007: 3,614,361,244 ordinary shares) in issue during the period.

No diluted loss per share has been presented for the six months ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 as the share option outstanding during both period had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

#### 6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

	<i>HK\$'000</i> ( <b>unaudited</b> )
FAIR VALUE	
At 1 July 2007	_
Transferred from deposit paid for acquisition of properties	10,104
Exchange alignment	1,700
Net increase in fair value	8,423
At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008	20,227
Net decrease in fair value	(6,591)
At 31 December 2008	13,636

The Group's investment properties are situated in the PRC and are held under medium-term leases. All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2008 and 30 June 2008 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Greater China Appraisal Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation, which conforms to Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Standards on Properties, was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

#### 7. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

	Notes	At 31 December 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	At 30 June 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (audited)
Unlisted equity securities, at cost W-Phone, Inc.		3,420	3,420
Madagascar Petroleum International Limited ("MPIL") Easy Link Card Business Services Limited	<i>(a)</i>	8,813	487,741 8,813
Fossick Rudder Software Technology Co. Ltd ("Fossick")	<i>(b)</i>	3,283	
Listed equity securities, at cost Sino Union Petroleum & Chemical International Limited ("SUNPEC")	( <i>a</i> )	289,072	499,974
Total equity securities, at cost Less: Impairment loss recognised		304,588 (107,384)	499,974 (102,089)
		197,204	397,885
Analysed for reporting purposes as: Non-current assets Current assets		12,096 185,108	8,813 389,072
		197,204	397,885

Notes:

(a) On 17 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of SUNPEC, the shares of which are traded on the Stock Exchange. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to dispose of its 36% equity interests ("Disposal") in MPIL at a total consideration of HK\$810 million to be satisfied by HK\$100 million in cash and HK\$710 million by the issue and allotment by SUNPEC of 253,571,428 consideration shares at HK\$2.8 per consideration share. On 22 May 2008, the Company has duly received the HK\$50,000,000 deposit from SUNPEC in connection with the Disposal.

On 7 August 2008 ("Completion Date"), as all of the conditions precedent to the completion have been satisfied, the Disposal was completed. The Company has duly received the remaining portion of the cash consideration amounted to HK\$50,000,000 and 253,571,428 new shares of SUNPEC at a published share price of HK\$1.14 per share as at the Completion Date.

Based on the published share price of SUNPEC as at the balance sheet date, impairment loss of approximately HK\$103,964,000 was recognised in the condensed consolidated income statement for the period ended 31 December 2008.

(b) On 24 January 2008, Star Financial Limited ("SFL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share transfer agreement with an independent third party (the "Vendor") to acquire 7% equity interests of Fossick, a company established under the laws of PRC. The Group has paid RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to HK\$3,283,000) as deposit for the acquisition of an available-for-sale investment during the year ended 30 June 2008.

On 19 December 2008, Credit Card DNA Security System (Shenzhen) Limited ("CCDNA(SZ)"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established under the laws of PRC, entered into a supplemental agreement with the Vendor to acquire the relevant investment directly by CCDNA(SZ) in order to cope with and simplify the procedural requirement in obtaining the legal title. On 23 December 2008, CCDNA(SZ) obtained the legal title of the relevant investment and the respective deposit was transferred to available-for-sale investments accordingly.

#### 8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to its trade customers. Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors with the following ageing analysis:

	At 31 December 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	At 30 June 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (audited)
0-60 days	2,918	3,350
61-90 days Over 90 days	3	56 12
Trade receivables	2,922	3,418
Other receivables	7,456	3,889
Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts	(578)	(1,646)
	6,878	2,243
	9,800	5,661
SHARE CAPITAL		
	Number of shares	<b>Value</b> <i>HK\$'000</i>
Ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each		
Authorised: At 30 June 2008 and 31 December 2008	60,000,000,000	600,000
Issued and fully paid: At 1 July 2008 Repurchase of shares ( <i>Note</i> )	3,740,843,782 (6,810,000)	37,408 (68)
At 31 December 2008	3,734,033,782	37,340

Note:

9.

During the period, the Company repurchased certain of its own shares on the Stock Exchange pursuant to the general mandate to repurchase securities approved by the shareholders of the Company on 28 November 2007. All of the repurchased shares were cancelled, accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.

#### **10. COMMITMENTS**

At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following commitments, so far as not provided for in the condensed consolidated financial statements, in respect of:

(a) Capital commitments:

	At 31 December 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	At 30 June 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (audited)
Authorised and contracted for – acquisition of property, plant and equipment	162	227
Authorised but not contracted for – capital injection in a subsidiary	4,340	4,368

(b) Operating lease commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:

	At 31 December 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (unaudited)	At 30 June 2008 <i>HK\$'000</i> (audited)
Within one year In the second to fifth year inclusive	1,648 1,155	1,076 250
	2,803	1,326

(c) Property rental income earned during the period was approximately HK\$512,000. All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next two years. They generated a rental yield of 7.51% (2007: nil) for the six months ended 31 December 2008.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

	At 31 December 2008	At 30 June 2008
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	(unaudited)	(audited)
Within one year	1,024	1,024
In the second to fifth year inclusive	427	939
	1,451	1,963

#### 11. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2008, a number of lawsuits and claims arising from acquisition of subsidiaries were lodged against and by the Group which remains outstanding as at the date of these financial statements as follow:

(a) On 7 March 2008, Guoye PRC Inc. ("Guoye") brought an action in High Court of Hong Kong under HCA 364 of 2008 against Triple Winner International Limited ("Triple Winner") and the Company for damages for breach of the Framework Agreement dated 23 October 2007 together with interest and/or further relief and costs (the "1st Damages"). The writ was served on the Company on 11 March 2008 and on Triple Winner on 6 June 2008. Accordingly, Acknowledgement of Services was filed by the Company on 20 March 2008 and by Triple Winner on 2 July 2008. On 27 August 2008, the statement of claims was served on the Company and Triple Winner for the 1st Damages.

On 11 August 2008, the Company and Triple Winner brought an action in High Court of Hong Kong under HCA 1492 of 2008 against Guoye for recovery of the deposit of US\$3,000,000 which was paid to Guoye under the agreement dated 23 October 2007, with interests, damages and/or relief and costs.

With the advices by the Group's legal adviser, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has proper and valid defence to Guoye's action, accordingly, no provision has been provided for the six months ended 31 December 2008 in respect of the 1st Damages and any legal costs associated with this litigation.

(b) On 23 April 2008, Ms. Susan So ("Ms. So"), a director of Guoye, brought an action in High Court of Hong Kong under HCA 699 of 2008 against the Company for damages for breach of the consultancy service agreement to be assessed, interest and other relief and costs (the "2nd Damages"). The Company has already filed a defence on 3 June 2008. On 11 August 2008, the Company brought an action in High Court of Hong Kong under HCA 1493 of 2008 against Ms. So for the 2nd Damages.

The legal advisers of the Group on these claims are of opinion that the Group has a reasonably good chance to resist the claim of Ms. So and has a valid claim against Ms. So. No provision has been provided for the six months ended 31 December 2008 in respect of the 2nd Damages and legal costs associated with this litigation.

#### **12. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS**

(a) On 30 January 2009, Star EPS.com (HK) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Fast Sky Investments Limited ("Fast Sky") to acquire 36.67% of the issued share capital of Smart Tycoon Limited ("Smart Tycoon"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the "Acquisition"). Save and except for the 30% of the issued share capital of Easy Link Card Business Services Limited ("Easy Link"), Smart Tycoon has no other assets or business.

Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 30 January 2009, the Group indirectly increased its beneficial interest in Easy Link from 19% to 30%. The consideration of the acquisition is HK\$13,900,000, which has been satisfied in cash upon signing of the agreement.

Details of the Acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 January 2009.

(b) In light of the unique investment opportunities presented by the recent financial turmoil, the Directors see that there are a lot of investment opportunities offering attractive valuation in both the local and overseas market. Unfortunately, the Group has limited cash reserve.

In order to seize the opportunity to increase its cash reserve, on 26 February 2009, Credit Card DNA Security System Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional agreement with Fast Sky to dispose of its entire interest in Star EPS.com Limited at a consideration of HK\$23,800,000 which shall be satisfied in cash upon the completion of the transaction.

Details of the disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 26 February 2009.

(c) On 27 February 2009, the Company entered into a Convertible Notes Placing Agreement ("CN Placing Agreement") with Kingston Securities Limited (the "Placing Agent"). The Placing Agent has conditionally agreed with the Company to place, on a best effort basis, the Convertible Notes which are proposed to be issued in a maximum aggregate principal amount of HK\$160,480,000. The Placing Agent will receive a placing commission of 2.5% of the amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes subscribed or procured to be subscribed by the Placing Agent, which was arrived at after arm's length negotiations between the Company and the Placing Agent.

The Convertible Notes will carry a right to convert into Conversion Shares at the conversion price of, subject to adjustment, HK\$0.034 per Conversion Share from the date of issue of the Convertible Notes up to 30 June 2010, HK\$0.035 per Conversion Share from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, and HK\$0.036 per Conversion Share from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012, the maturity date.

Details of the CN Placing Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 February 2009.

(d) To further increase the Group's cash level, on 3 March 2009, Star Cyberpower V.F. Limited ("Cyberpower VF"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional agreement with Go Up Group Limited ("Go Up") to dispose of its entire interest in Star Cyber DNA Limited ("Cyber DNA)". Pursuant to the agreement, Go Up has agreed to acquire (i) 100% of the issued share capital of Cyber DNA at a consideration of HK\$1.00; and (ii) the 100% beneficial ownership of the inter-company receivables of Cyberpower VF due from Cyber DNA and its subsidiaries and associates at a consideration of HK\$18,000,000. The consideration shall be satisfied in cash upon the completion of the transaction.

Details of the disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 3 March 2009.

#### **13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS**

(a) During the six months ended 31 December 2008, the Group has entered into the following transactions with related parties:

	For the six months ended <b>31 December</b>		
	2008		
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	
Service income received from 廣州易聯商業服務有限公司	557		

#### (b) Key management personnel compensation

	For the six months ended 31 December		
	2008	2007	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	
Salaries, bonus and other benefits	16,002	16,331	
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme	40	30	
	16,042	16,361	

## **INTERIM DIVIDEND**

The Board does not recommend the payment of interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December 2008 (six months ended 31 December 2007: Nil).

## MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

## Results

The turnover of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2008 has increased by over 300% from HK\$3.99 million to approximately HK\$16.85 million. The growth is mainly contributed by the growth of the Group's business in trading of electronic goods and accessories which was commenced in March 2008. Gross profit from operation for the first six months under review was approximately HK\$1.59 million, comparing to a gross profit of HK\$0.88 million for the corresponding period in 2007. Loss attributable to shareholders for the first six months under review was increased by 257% to HK\$139.07 million as compared with the corresponding period in 2007. Such increase of loss was mainly caused by (a) the diminution in fair value of HK\$104 million recognised in relation to the 254 million shares of Sino Union Petroleum Chemical International Limited (stock code: 346) ("SUNPEC") held by the Company as an available-for-sale investment based on the published share price of SUNPEC share as at 31 December 2008; and (b) the diminution in fair value of the financial assets and investment properties held by the Group. The Group has not slowed down in searching for business opportunities in other countries which are rich in natural resources. However, in light of the current market conditions, the Directors are also cautious on the expenses incurred by the Group. For the six months ended 31 December 2008, the Group managed to reduce its administrative expenses from HK\$37.27 million to HK\$27 million.

## **Business review**

The year of 2008 is definitely a year to be remembered in history. The collapse of giant financial institutions has caused an unprecedented turmoil in the global financial market. A lot of companies went down overnight and more are struggling for survival. With hindsight, the Group has fortunately made a decisive move to realise its investments in Madagascar Petroleum International Limited to protect the shareholders' interest.

During the period under review, except for the new business in trading of electronic goods and accessories commenced in March 2008, there is no material change in the principal activities of the Group.

The trading of electronic goods and accessories business commenced in March 2008 and has contributed a turnover of approximately HK\$13.04 million for the six months ended 31 December 2008, which accounted for 77% of the total turnover of the Group.

During the six months ended 31 December 2008, the Group's financial information service (WINFCS) recorded a turnover of HK\$2.14 million (2007: HK\$1.83 million) which accounted for 13% of the total turnover. A loss of HK\$0.46 million was incurred in this division of business, representing an increase of 86% when compared with a loss of HK\$0.25 million for the same period of 2007.

The DNA security service and DNAPAY service contributed to approximately 10% of the Group's total turnover, amounting to approximately HK\$1.68 million compared with HK\$2.16 million for the six months ended 2007, representing a decrease of 22%. A loss of HK\$2.82 million was incurred in this division of business, representing an increase of 34% when compared with a loss of HK\$2.11 million reported in the same period of 2007.

### Net asset value

As at 31 December 2008, the Group's net asset amounted to HK\$323.42 million representing a decrease of HK\$139.92 million comparing to the financial year ended 30 June 2008. Based on the total number of 3,734,033,782 ordinary shares issued as at 31 December 2008, net asset value per share was HK8.66 cents.

## Liquidity and financing

The Group recorded a net cash inflow of approximately HK\$9.65 million during the period under review. As at 31 December 2008, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately HK\$90.09 million, compared to approximately HK\$80.44 million as at 30 June 2008. A bank deposit of approximately HK\$164,000 was pledged to a bank to secure a merchant account of a subsidiary as at 31 December 2008 (30 June 2008: HK\$162,000).

The Group's gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of the Group's total borrowings over shareholders' equity, was nil as at 31 December 2008 (30 June 2008: nil) as the Group did not have any borrowings as at 31 December 2008.

The Group conducted most of its business in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars so that it does not have any significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation.

## **Business outlook**

The Board sees year 2009 a year full of challenges and opportunities. The Group is continuing with its search and assessment of business opportunities in Ghana, Indonesia and Mongolia. The Directors believe that given the current adverse market conditions, there are a lot of business opportunities which offer attractive returns. In this connection, it is of vital importance to maintain and to increase the cash reserve of the Group to prepare the Group to make decisive moves when such investment opportunities arise. Accordingly, the Group is disposing of its non-core assets and businesses, and is exploring various other options to increase our cash reserve, including the issue of convertible notes.

In relation to the businesses of the Group, we are continuing to grow our business on financial information services and our new trading business. We have launched a new i-phone application on financial information services in February 2009. It is the first i-phone application for Hong Kong stock market information. Since its launch, there are already over 8,000 downloads of our application from the Apple's App Store.

Regarding our trading business, though we see slowing down of its growth in 2009 because of the adverse market condition, the Directors believe we can continue the growth momentum of this business. However, we shall closely monitor the credit terms granted to our customers and their financial conditions.

## Human resources

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 26 and 30 employees in Hong Kong and Mainland China respectively. Employees are remunerated at a competitive level and are rewarded according to their performance. Our Group's remuneration packages include medical scheme, group insurance, mandatory provident fund and performance bonus.

According to the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 July 2004, share options may be granted to directors and eligible employees of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated therein.

## DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors of the Company and their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of the Company (the "Model Code"), were disclosed as follows in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules"):

	Number of *shares/underlying shares								
Name of director	<b>Personal</b> interests	Corporate interests	Share options	Total	Approximate % of the issued share capital of the Company	Note			
Wong Kam Fu									
("Mr. KF Wong")	120,091,666	483,029,423	_	603,121,089	16.15%	1			
Lew Mon Hung	31,162,666	-	13,740,000	44,902,666	1.20%				
Wah Wang Kei, Jackie	_	-	20,000,000	20,000,000	0.54%				
Tam Wai Keung, Billy	24,833,333	-	10,000,000	34,833,333	0.93%				
Wong Hong Loong	3,000,000	-	13,740,000	16,740,000	0.45%				
Wong Che Man, Eddy	700,000	-	1,000,000	1,700,000	0.05%				
Tang King Fai	600,000	-	1,000,000	1,600,000	0.04%				
Dai Zhongcheng	-	-	1,000,000	1,000,000	0.03%				

#### Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

\* Ordinary shares unless otherwise specified in the Note

#### Note:

1. 372,404,423 and 110,625,000 shares are held by Sheung Hai Developments Limited ("Sheung Hai") and Alpha Logistics Group Limited ("Alpha Logistics") respectively. Sheung Hai and Alpha Logistics were wholly owned by Mr. KF Wong. By virtue of SFO, Mr. KF Wong is deemed to be interested in all of the 483,029,423 shares.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company nor their associates had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code required to be disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2008.

## DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OTHER THAN DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 December 2008, so far as known to the directors or chief executives of the Company, the following persons/entity are the substantial shareholders (other than the interests and short positions of the directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified the Company.

### Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholders	Capacity	Number of shares/ underlying shares	Approximate % of the issued share capital	Notes
Sheung Hai Developments Limited ("Sheung Hai")	Beneficial owner	372,404,423	9.97%	1
Chu Yuet Wah ("Mrs. Chu")	Interest of controlled corporation	316,610,290	8.48%	2
Ma Siu Fong ("Ms. Ma")	Interest of controlled corporation	316,610,290	8.48%	3
Kingston Finance Limited ("Kingston Finance")	Security interest in shares	316,610,000	8.48%	2 & 3
Yi Xing Wu ("Mr. Yi")	Interest of controlled corporation and beneficial owner	305,698,333	8.19%	4
China Sound Limited ("China Sound")	Beneficial owner	303,333,333	8.12%	4
Lam Yin Lok	Beneficial owner	255,416,234	6.84%	

Notes:

1. Mr. KF Wong, a director of the Company, is the ultimate beneficial owner of Sheung Hai. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. KF Wong is deemed to have interest in the shares of the Company held by Sheung Hai.

2. Mrs. Chu is deemed to be interested in these interests through her controlling interests of both 51% in Kingston Securities Limited and Kingston Finance respectively.

3. Ms. Ma is deemed to be interested in these interests through her controlling interests of both 49% in Kingston Securities Limited and Kingston Finance respectively.

4. Mr. Yi is the ultimate beneficial owner of China Sound. Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Yi is deemed to have interest in the shares of the Company held by China Sound.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any person (other than the directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified the Company as at 31 December 2008.

#### **SHARE OPTION**

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share options held by each of the directors and the employees of the Company in aggregate granted under the share option scheme of the Company during the six months ended 31 December 2008:

Name or Category of participants	Date of grant	Exercisable period	Exercise price HK\$	Outstanding as at 1.7.2008	Granted during the period	Exercised during the period	Cancelled during the period	Lapsed during the period	Outstanding as at 31.12.2008	Market Value per share at date of grant of options <i>HK\$</i>	Option value per share HK\$
(a) Directors Lew Mon Hung	08.01.2008	08.01.2008-	0.2550	13,740,000	_	-	_	-	13,740,000	0.2500	0.0837
Wah Wang Kei, Jackie	08.01.2008	07.01.2010 08.01.2008-	0.2550	20,000,000	-	-	-	-	20,000,000	0.2500	0.0837
Tam Wai Keung, Billy	08.01.2008	07.01.2010 08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	10,000,000	-	-	-	-	10,000,000	0.2500	0.0837
Wong Hong Loong	08.01.2008	07.01.2010 08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	13,740,000	-	-	-	-	13,740,000	0.2500	0.0837
Sin Chi Keung, Mega (Note)	08.01.2008	08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000	-	-	0.2500	0.0837
Wong Che Man, Eddy	08.01.2008	08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	1,000,000	-	-	-	-	1,000,000	0.2500	0.0837
Tang King Fai	08.01.2008	08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	1,000,000	-	-	-	-	1,000,000	0.2500	0.0837
Dai Zhongcheng	08.01.2008	08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	1,000,000	-	-	-	-	1,000,000	0.2500	0.0837
Total for directors				61,480,000			1,000,000		60,480,000		
(b) Employees	08.01.2008	08.01.2008- 07.01.2010	0.2550	252,000,000	-	-	37,300,000	-	214,700,000	0.2500	0.0837
	16.04.2008	16.04.2008- 15.04.2010	0.2550	18,000,000	-	_	-	-	18,000,000	0.2040	0.0728
Total for employees				270,000,000			37,300,000		232,700,000		
(c) Others	03.01.2007	03.01.2007- 02.01.2009	0.1520	24,000,000					24,000,000	0.1520	0.0542
Total for Scheme				355,480,000			38,300,000		317,180,000		

*Note:* Mr. Sin Chi Keung, Mega retired as Director of the Company on 12 November 2008.

## PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the six months ended 31 December 2008, the Company repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange. Details are as follows:

Month of repurchase	Number of shares repurchased	Highest price paid per share <i>HK</i> \$	Lowest price paid per share <i>HK\$</i>	Total consideration paid HK\$
July 2008 August 2008	2,570,000 4,240,000	0.142 0.127	0.135 0.103	352,570 489,040
Total	6,810,000			841,610

The repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled and accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value thereof and the nominal value of shares repurchased amounted to HK\$68,100.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the period.

## CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

## **Compliance of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices of the Listing Rules**

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the six months ended 31 December 2008, except for the deviation from the Code Provision A.4.1 in respect of the service term of directors.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing independent non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment but are subject to the retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting under the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company has good corporate governance practices.

## MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors' securities transactions. Enquiry has been made with all directors and the directors have confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the six months ended 31 December 2008.

## AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, with terms of reference in compliance with the provisions set out in the CG Code, comprises four members who are all independent non-executive directors of the Company for the six months ended 31 December 2008. The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the unaudited consolidated interim results of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2008.

## APPRECIATION

The Board would like to thank the Group's management and staffs for their hard work and dedication, as well as our shareholders and customers for their support to the Group.

By Order of the Board Wah Wang Kei, Jackie Managing Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2009